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COMPLAINT 

This Complaint stems from a breach by The Ohio Bell Telephone Company (“AT&T Ohio”) of the interconnection agreement between AT&T Ohio and MCImetro Access Transmission Services LLC d/b/a Verizon Access Transmission Services (“MCI”), as well as applicable state law.
  In violation of the parties’ interconnection agreement, AT&T Ohio has overcharged MCI approximately $3.1 million for services provided in Ohio.  Accordingly, MCI asks the Commission to order AT&T Ohio to refund the amounts that it has overcharged MCI, plus interest, and to find that AT&T has violated the Ohio Revised Code, entitling MCI to seek treble damages.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. MCI and AT&T Ohio are parties to an interconnection agreement that provides symmetrical rates for each party’s termination of traffic from the other party’s customers.  Under an amendment to that agreement, MCI and AT&T Ohio agreed to bill each other a single rate for local traffic and Internet-bound traffic.  That single rate – $0.001016 per minute of traffic – was effective from April 1, 2005, through July 31, 2007.  

2. Throughout the relevant time period, MCI billed AT&T Ohio the agreed-upon single rate of $0.001016 per minute for completing both local traffic and Internet-bound traffic.  AT&T Ohio paid MCI’s invoices and did not dispute the rate billed by MCI.

3. AT&T Ohio, however, did not bill MCI the agreed-upon single rate at any time during the relevant time period.  Instead, AT&T Ohio billed MCI several different rates that averaged $0.0036 per minute for local traffic and Internet-bound traffic.  The average of the several rates billed by AT&T Ohio was more than three times higher than the single rate that AT&T Ohio and MCI agreed upon for such traffic and, thus, exceeded the rate allowed by law.  MCI disputed these charges billed by AT&T Ohio and paid them under protest.

4. In breach of the parties’ interconnection agreement, AT&T Ohio overcharged MCI approximately $3.1 million during the relevant time period.  The Commission should order AT&T Ohio to refund to MCI $3.1 million in overcharges, plus interest.  The Commission should also find that AT&T Ohio violated Ohio Revised Code §4905.22, thereby entitling MCI to seek a treble damages award of $9.3 million from a court of competent jurisdiction.

PARTIES

5. MCI is a Delaware limited liability company with offices at 1300 Columbus-Sandusky Road North, Marion, Ohio 43302.  MCI is authorized to provide local exchange service in Ohio.  MCI is a “telecommunications carrier” and “local exchange carrier” under the Communications Act of 1934, 47 U.S.C. §151 et seq., as amended by the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (the “Act”).  MCI is also a “local exchange carrier” and a “competitive local exchange carrier,” as defined in Ohio Administrative Code §§4901:1-7-01(D) and 4901:1-7-01(L).

6. AT&T Ohio is an Ohio corporation with offices at 45 Erieview Plaza, Cleveland, Ohio 44114-1801.  AT&T Ohio is authorized to provide local exchange service in Ohio.  AT&T Ohio is an “incumbent local exchange carrier,” as defined in Section 251(h) of the Act and in Ohio Administrative Code §4901:1-7-01(H).

JURISDICTION

7. The Commission has jurisdiction over this Complaint under Ohio Revised Code §§4905.22 and 4905.26.  The Commission also has jurisdiction under Section 251(d)(3) of the Act.  47 U.S.C. §251(d)(3) (conferring authority to State commissions to enforce any regulation, order or policy that is consistent with the requirements of Section 251).

8. In addition, the Commission has jurisdiction over this Complaint pursuant to the dispute resolution provisions contained in Section 12.3 of the parties’ interconnection agreement that became effective on January 27, 2003 (“2003 ICA”).  See Exhibit A, Section 12.3.  Further, pursuant to Section 24 of the 2003 ICA, the 2003 ICA is governed by, and construed in accordance with, applicable federal law and the laws of the state of Ohio, without regard to its conflict of laws principles.  See Exhibit A, Section 24.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

9. AT&T Ohio and MCI are parties to the 2003 ICA.  See Exhibit A.  The 2003 ICA provides rates, terms and conditions for each party’s termination of Local Calls and Local Traffic.  These terms – “Local Calls” and “Local Traffic” – are used interchangeably throughout the 2003 ICA and are defined as “traffic where all calls are within the same common local and common mandatory local calling area, i.e., within the same or different [AT&T Ohio] Exchange(s) that participate in the same common local or common mandatory local calling area as outlined in the applicable state Local Exchange Tariff.”  See Exhibit B, Appendix XVIII (Reciprocal Compensation), Section 2.6.

10. Under the 2003 ICA, the parties agreed that the “[r]ates for transport and termination of Local Traffic must be symmetrical.”  See Exhibit B, Appendix XVIII (Reciprocal Compensation), Section 4.1.  In this context, “symmetrical means that the amount charged for each rate element [MCI] may assess [AT&T Ohio] for the transport and termination of Local Traffic (depending on which elements may be assessed to a particular call) will be the same as the amount charged for each rate element which [AT&T Ohio] may assess [MCI] for the transport and termination of Local Traffic (depending on which elements may be assessed to a particular call).”  Id.

11.   On April 1, 2005, AT&T Ohio and MCI executed an amendment to the 2003 ICA (“2005 Amendment”).  See Exhibit C.
  The 2005 amendment established “rates, terms and conditions for the exchange of ISP-bound [Internet-bound], Section 251(b)(5) and other compensable traffic including, but not limited to, compensable traffic that originates from or terminates to an MCI end user.”  See Exhibit C, Third Whereas Clause.  The term “ISP-Bound Traffic” is defined as “any ISP traffic that as of the Effective Date of this Amendment is lawfully compensable under the FCC’s Order on Remand Report and Order, In the Matter of Implementation of the Local Compensation Provision in the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Intercarrier Compensation for ISP-Bound Traffic, FCC 01-131, CC Docket Nos. 96-98, 99-68 (released April 27, 2001).”  See Exhibit C, Section 13.1.  The term “Section 251(b)(5) Traffic” is defined in the 2005 Amendment as “the traffic lawfully compensable under Section 251(b)(5) of the Act as of the Effective Date of this Amendment.”  Id.  The term “Section 251(b)(5) Traffic” is synonymous with the terms Local Calls and Local Traffic under the parties’ 2003 ICA because those terms encompass the traffic that is compensable under Section 251(b)(5).

12. For ISP-Bound Traffic, AT&T Ohio and MCI “agree[d] to compensate each other . . . on a minute of use basis, at $0.0007 per minute of use.”  See Exhibit C, Section 14.3.  The rate for ISP-Bound Traffic is therefore symmetrical.

13. For Section 251(b)(5) Traffic, AT&T Ohio and MCI agreed to charge each other the rates that are set forth in Exhibit A of the 2005 Amendment.  See Exhibit C, Section 15.1.  The parties also agreed that “the terms and conditions relating to Section 251(b)(5) Traffic (including Mandatory EAS) are set forth in the ICAs,” which includes the terms and conditions requiring that rates for Local Traffic be symmetrical.  Id.  The parties therefore agreed that the rates for Section 251(b)(5) Traffic (i.e., Local Traffic) must be symmetrical.

14. In order to simplify billing under the 2005 Amendment, AT&T Ohio and MCI agreed that “[u]pon mutual agreement of the Parties in writing, the Parties may implement a single rate for both Section 251(b)(5) and ISP-bound Traffic.”  See Exhibit D, Section 16.2.  This agreed-upon mutual single rate replaces the various rate elements for Section 251(b)(5) Traffic and ISP-Bound Traffic that the parties would otherwise mutually bill each other for such traffic.  The single rate is “based upon the percentage of ISP-bound Traffic (compensated at $0.0007 per minute of use) and the percentage of Section 251(b)(5) traffic (70% at the state TELRIC end office rate set forth in Exhibit A and 30% at the state TELRIC tandem rates set forth in Exhibit A).”  Id.

15. Prior to the effective date of the 2005 Amendment, MCI and AT&T Ohio developed the single rate that they would implement to bill each other under the 2005 amendment.  On February 8, 2008, Mr. Dave Thomas of MCI sent an email to Mr. Brian Van Hoof of AT&T Ohio transmitting an Excel spreadsheet.  See Exhibit G.  Mr. Thomas’ email stated that the attached spreadsheet “shows our calculation of the blended rate that we will use to bill each other during the term of this agreement.”  Mr. Van Hoof responded on February 18, 2005, and never disagreed with Mr. Thomas’ statement that AT&T Ohio and MCI will bill each other the single rate set forth in the spreadsheet.  See Exhibit G.

16. AT&T Ohio and MCI signed a letter implementing the single rate provisions of the 2005 Amendment on the same day that they signed the amendment itself (“2005 Implementation Letter”).  See Exhibit D.  The letter states that “[i]n accordance with Section 16.2, the Parties wish to memorialize a single rate for both Section 251(b)(5) and ISP-bound Traffic based upon the percentage of ISP-bound Traffic (compensated at $0.0007 per minute of use) and the percentage of Section 251(b)(5) traffic (70% at the state TELRIC end office rate set forth in Interconnection Agreement and 30% at the state TELRIC tandem rates set forth in Interconnection Agreement).”  Id.  The rate table in the 2005 Implementation Letter lists the single rate for Ohio as $0.001016 per minute.  This single rate of $0.001016 per minute set forth in the 2005 Implementation Letter is the same single rate that appears in the attachment to Mr. Thomas’ February 25th email.  There is nothing in the 2005 Implementation Letter to limit the application of this single rate to only one party.  Rather, that letter implements the single rate for both parties to bill each other.

17. Pursuant to the 2005 Implementation Letter and the 2005 Amendment, MCI billed AT&T Ohio for both Section 251(b)(5) Traffic and ISP-Bound Traffic at the single rate of $0.001016 per minute.  MCI continued to bill this single rate through the expiration of the 2005 Amendment – i.e., July 31, 2007.  Throughout the term of the 2005 Amendment, AT&T Ohio paid MCI’s charges without protest.

18. AT&T Ohio, however, never billed the mutual single rate required by the 2005 Implementation Letter and the 2005 Amendment that replaced the other mutual multiple rates.  Instead, AT&T Ohio continued to bill MCI for Section 251(b)(5) Traffic and ISP-Bound Traffic at rates that were, on average, more than three times higher than the agreed-upon single rate.  As a result, AT&T Ohio has overcharged MCI $3.1 million during the term of the 2005 Amendment.

19. MCI has exhausted the informal dispute resolution provisions of the parties’ 2003 ICA.  On March 18, 2005, pursuant to Section 12 of the General Terms and Conditions of the 2003 ICA, MCI sent a written notice of the dispute that is the subject of this Complaint.  In that notice, MCI appointed Kathy Jespersen as MCI’s representative for resolution of the dispute under the informal dispute resolution provisions of the 2003 ICA and asked AT&T Ohio to appoint its representative.  See Exhibit H.  On March 28, 2008, AT&T Ohio responded to MCI’s notice and appointed Rocky Sullivan as AT&T Ohio’s representative.  See Exhibit I.  The representatives of MCI and AT&T Ohio met on several occasions, but were unable to resolve this dispute pursuant to the informal dispute resolution provisions of the 2003 ICA.

COUNT ONE

AT&T Ohio Has Breached the Parties’ Amended Interconnection Agreement By Imposing Excessive Charges on MCI

20. MCI repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the paragraphs 1-19 of this Complaint as if fully set forth here.  AT&T Ohio has breached the parties’ 2003 ICA, as amended, by billing charges that far exceed the charges prescribed by that agreement.

21. Section 251(c) of the Act, 47 U.S.C. §251(c), imposes a duty on AT&T Ohio as an incumbent local exchange carrier to negotiate an agreement establishing reciprocal compensation for the transport and termination of telecommunications.  Specifically, Section 251(c) provides that “each incumbent local exchange carrier has the following duties: . . . [t]he duty to negotiate in good faith in accordance with section 252 the particular terms and conditions of agreements to fulfill the duties described in paragraphs (1) through (5) of subsection (b) and this subsection.”  47 U.S.C. §251(c).  Section 251(b)(5) imposes “[t]he duty to establish reciprocal compensation arrangements for the transport and termination of telecommunications.”  47 U.S.C. §251(b)(5).  See also Ohio Administrative Code 4901:1-7-12(A)(1)(a).

22. The Act also requires that such agreements be filed with the state commission for approval.  Section 252(e)(1) says that “[a]ny interconnection agreement adopted by negotiation or arbitration shall be submitted for approval to the State commission.”  47 U.S.C. §252(e)(1).  See also Ohio Administrative Code 4901:1-7-07.

23. Pursuant to Sections 251 and 252 of the Act, AT&T Ohio and MCI negotiated an interconnection agreement in January 2003 and amended that agreement in April 2005.  The 2003 ICA was approved by the Commission by order entered on February 13, 2003, in Case No. 01-1319-TP-ARB.  The 2005 Amendment to the parties’ 2003 ICA was deemed approved by operation of law in Case No. 05-0926-TP-AEC and that docket was closed by this Commission on August 22, 2005.

24. Sections 13 through 16 of the 2005 Amendment to the parties’ 2003 ICA includes the services that each party provides to terminate the other party’s Section 251(b)(5) Traffic and ISP-Bound Traffic and the detailed mutual charges for those services.  In accordance with those sections, AT&T Ohio and MCI agreed in writing to mutually charge each other a single rate of $0.001016 per minute for terminating such traffic.

25. AT&T Ohio has breached Sections 13 through 16 of the 2005 Amendment of the parties’ 2003 ICA by unilaterally charging MCI more than three times the agreed-upon single rate for Section 251(b)(5) Traffic and ISP-Bound Traffic.  As a direct result of AT&T Ohio’s breach, MCI has been overcharged $3.1 million.  This Commission should issue an order directing AT&T Ohio to refund $3.1 million, plus interest.

COUNT TWO

AT&T Ohio Violated the Ohio Revised Code By Imposing Charges on MCI
That Exceeded the Charges Allowed by Law

26. MCI repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the paragraphs 1-19 of this Complaint as if fully set forth here.  AT&T Ohio violated the Ohio Revised Code by imposing charges for services that are more than the charges allowed by law.

27. Section 4905.22 of the Ohio Revised Code provides that “[a]ll charges made or demanded for any service rendered, or to be rendered, shall be just, reasonable, and not more than the charges allowed by law or by order of the public utilities commission.”  Ohio Revised Code § 4905.22.  That section further provides that “no unjust or unreasonable charge shall be made or demanded for, or in connection with, any service, or in excess of that allowed by law or by order of the commission.”  Id.  

28. AT&T Ohio violated Section 4905.22 of the Ohio Revised Code by unilaterally charging rates for Section 251(b)(5) Traffic and ISP-Bound Traffic that exceeded the agreed-upon single rate established under the 2005 Amendment to the parties’ 2003 ICA.  Pursuant to those provisions, AT&T Ohio and MCI agreed to mutually charge each other a single rate of $0.001016 per minute for completing such traffic.  That is the only rate AT&T Ohio was allowed by law to charge for such traffic.  AT&T Ohio violated Section 4905.22 of the Ohio Revised Code by charging approximately $0.0036 per minute for such traffic – more than three times the rate allowed by law.

29. MCI is entitled to seek treble damages for AT&T Ohio’s violation of the Ohio Revised Code.  Section 4905.61 of the Ohio Revised Code provides that “[i]f any public utility or railroad does, or causes to be done, any act or thing prohibited by Chapters 4901., 4903., 4905., 4907., 4909., 4921., 4923., and 4925. of the Revised Code, or declared to be unlawful, or omits to do any act or thing required by such chapters, or by order of the public utilities commission, such public utility or railroad is liable to the person, firm, or corporation injured thereby in treble the amount of damages sustained in consequence of such violation, failure, or omission.”  Ohio Revised Code §4905.61.  AT&T Ohio has violated Section 4905.22 by charging MCI more than three times the rate authorized by law and MCI suffered direct damages of $3.1 million in overcharges paid to AT&T Ohio.  Accordingly, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code §4905.61, a finding by this Commission that AT&T Ohio has violated Ohio Revised Code §4905.22 would entitle MCI to seek a treble damages award of $9.3 million from a court of competent jurisdiction. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF


WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, MCI respectfully requests that the Commission:  

(1) Enforce the parties’ 2003 ICA, as amended by the 2005 Amendment, and applicable law and regulations related thereto;

(2) Order AT&T Ohio to refund overcharges in the amount of $3.1 million, plus interest;

(3) Find that AT&T Ohio has violated Ohio Revised Code §4905.22, thus entitling MCI to seek a treble damages award of $9.3 million from a court of competent jurisdiction; and

(4) Order such other and further relief as the Commission deems just and appropriate.








Respectfully submitted,





MCImetro Access Transmission Services LLC d/b/a Verizon Access Transmission Services

    /s/ Thomas E. Lodge





	A. Randall Vogelzang
Of Counsel 

Verizon North Inc.

E02J27

600 Hidden Ridge

Irvine, TX 75038

(972) 718-2170
	Thomas E. Lodge

Carolyn S. Flahive

THOMPSON HINE LLP

41 South High Street, Suite 1700

Columbus, Ohio 43215-6101

(614) 469-3200



	
	

	April 6, 2009
	Counsel for MCI


� 	For the Commission’s convenience, the relevant portions of the AT&T Ohio/MCI interconnection agreement are attached as exhibits.  Specifically, the General Terms and Conditions for the 2003 interconnection agreement, referred to herein as the GTCs of the 2003 ICA, are attached as Exhibit A; Appendix XVIII (Reciprocal Compensation) to the 2003 ICA is attached as Exhibit B; the 2005 Amendment to the 2003 ICA is attached as Exhibit C; the 2005 Implementation Letter for the 2005 Amendment is attached as Exhibit D; the May 2007 extension of the 2005 Amendment to the 2003 ICA is attached as Exhibit E; and the 2007 implementation letter is attached as Exhibit F.





� 	By its terms, the 2005 Amendment was effective through June 30, 2007.  See Exhibit C, Section 1.  On May 1, 2007, AT&T Ohio and MCI extended the 2005 Amendment until July 31, 2007.  See Exhibit E, Section 1.
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